CONSTITUTION

OAKWOOD HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION

1. NAME

The Name of the Association is **OAKWOOD HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION**.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

In this constitution, unless the context indicates the contrary:

- 2.1 "The Association" shall mean **OAKWOOD HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION.**
- 2.2 "The Developer" shall mean Garden Cities Incorporated Association not for Gain, No 1928/000607/08.
- 2.3 "Common Area" shall mean Erven 16679, 16680, 16685, 16931, 16942, 17100, & 17290 (public open space), Erven 16687 & 17029 (public roads), Erven 16606 & 17043 (entrance gates) and Erf 16605 (admin building), including the verges outside erf boundaries.
- 2.4 "Development" shall mean the erven with dwelling units designated as "Phase 3" on parent property Erf 13411 Durbanville, the public roads and public open spaces servicing the members of the Association as indicated on the layout plan annexed hereto.
- 2.5 "Effective Date" shall mean the date of registration of the first transfer of an erf in the Development into the name of a Member or of the Association, upon which date this Constitution shall also come into effect.
- 2.6 "Local Authority" shall mean the City of Cape Town or such competent authority acting as its successor in title.
- 2.7 "Managing Agent" shall mean such person or entity with whom the Association may contract from time to time to undertake any of the functions of the Association.
- 2.8 "Member" shall mean a Member as defined in clause 4 hereof.

- 2.9 "Person" shall include a company, close corporation, club, trust, partnership or other association of persons entitled in law to hold title to immovable property.
- 2.10 "Pinehurst Drive Property Owners Association" shall mean the over-arching homeowners association that controls the Pinehurst Drive road reserve area for the benefit of its members.
- 2.11 "Services" shall mean all services for the Township Area installed by or on behalf of the Association and not taken over by the City of Cape Town.
- 2.12 In this Agreement, unless the contrary obviously follows from the context:
- 2.12.1 any gender shall include the other genders;
- 2.12.2 any reference to a natural person shall include legal personae and vice versa;
- 2.12.3 the singular shall include the plural and *vice versa*.

3. OBJECTIVES

- 3.1 The objectives of the Association are to:
- 3.1.1 promote, enforce and protect the communal interests of its Members, with the object, *inter alia*, of creating and maintaining a congenial and secure atmosphere in the Development in such a way that Members may derive the maximum collective benefit therefrom in the long term;
- 3.1.2 promote and enforce acceptable aesthetic, environmental and architectural styles and design criteria for the Development in order to achieve harmonious development thereof;
- 3.1.3 control any exterior alterations, changes of colour finishes or design of all buildings erected on erven within the Development;
- 3.1.4 control and maintain such common services as are not taken over by the City of Cape Town or by the Pinehurst Drive Property Owners Association and for which the Association will be responsible from time to time (including verges adjacent to the Development and outside erf boundaries of Members), as envisaged in terms of Section 29 of the Land use Planning Ordinance 15/1985;
- 3.1.5 to maintain and clean, sweep, improve and control all landscaped areas within the Development and outside the erven of Members;

- 3.1.6 regularly collect such uniform and equal levies per erf (including special levies and interest on levies in arrears), from Members as the Association may determine from time to time in order to meet its obligations and to pay its accounts. In addition the Association shall be obliged to collect from Members and pay over such levies as the Pinehurst Drive Property Owners Association may from time to time impose;
- 3.2 The Association shall have all the powers reasonably required to meet its objectives and to do whatever may be necessary to accomplish these objectives.

4. MEMBERSHIP

- 4.1 Membership of the Association shall be evidenced by registered ownership in the Deeds Registry, Cape Town, of one or more erven in the Development.
- 4.2 Upon registration of ownership of an erf in the Development in the name of any purchaser, membership of the Association by such purchaser shall be automatic and obligatory and all Members shall be obliged to comply with the provisions of this Constitution.
- 4.3 No person shall be entitled to terminate, cede or assign his/her membership of the Association while remaining the registered owner of an erf in the Development.
- 4.4 Each Member shall have 1 (One) vote per erf owned in the Development. Joint ownership of an erf by several parties in undivided shares shall constitute only one Member, which Member shall be represented by one undivided vote as set out hereunder.
- 4.5 Membership shall be created (and terminated) by the registration of transfer of ownership in the Deeds Office at Cape Town, whereby one or more erven in the Development is transferred to a new owner who thereby shall become a Member.
- 4.6 No Member may sell, transfer or otherwise alienate his/her property in the Development without the prior consent in writing of the Association, and without expressly in writing making the purchaser aware of this Constitution in the deed of sale.
- 4.7 All Members shall be jointly liable for the expenditure and other liabilities of the Association.

5. COMMITTEE

- 5.1 Prior to the registration of the first transfer of any erf in the name of a Member, the management of Garden Cities shall appoint 3 (Three) members who shall constitute the interim Committee pending the election of a representative Committee at the first annual general meeting (AGM) as set out hereunder.
- As soon as a minimum of 600 (Six Hundred) erven in the Development have been sold and registered in the names of the respective purchasers, a general meeting of Members shall be called for the election of the Committee as envisaged herein.
- The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Committee consisting of 5 (Five) members who shall be elected by majority vote at each AGM and shall remain in office for 1 (One) year. Provided that not more than 1 (One) Committee member may be a non-Member elected or appointed on the basis of particular skill or knowledge.
 - The members of the Committee shall, after proposal and seconding, be elected by poll or (if the meeting so determines) by a show of hands of Members attending the general meeting of the Association. Subsequent Committees shall be likewise elected at each successive annual general meeting of the Association. No Member shall be eligible for election unless:
 - 5.4.1 he/she has been duly proposed and seconded in writing by two other Members; and
 - 5.4.2 such proposal, countersigned by the candidate, has been handed to the Secretary not later than the last day (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) preceding the meeting;

and

- 5.4.3 his/her levy payments are not in arrears. This requirement shall not apply to non-Members elected on account of particular skills or knowledge.
- 5.5 The Committee shall consist of:

A Chairperson;

A Secretary;

A Treasurer;

Two additional members

with any 3 (Three) Committee members forming a quorum,

Provided that, while 25 (Twenty-Five) or more residential erven in the Development remain unsold, Garden Cities shall be entitled to nominate the Chairperson and Treasurer of the Committee.

- 5.6 Every Committee member shall cease to hold office:
- 5.6.1 at every annual general meeting (but shall be eligible for re-election);
- 5.6.2 if he/she becomes unsound of mind or is disqualified from acting as a director in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act.
- 5.7 The Committee may fill casual vacancies on the Committee by co-opting any other person or eligible Member of the Association who may so serve until the next annual general meeting.
- 5.8 Committee members shall receive no remuneration apart from reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred on behalf of and for the benefit of the Association, and as approved by the Committee.
- No Committee member shall be liable to the Association or to any Member thereof or to any other person whomsoever for any act or omission by himself/herself, the Association or its servants or agents. Every member of the Committee is hereby indemnified against any loss or damage suffered by him/her in consequence of any alleged liability, provided that such Member has on the basis of information available to him/her at the time, acted honestly and in good faith without gross negligence.
- 5.10 Committee meetings shall be held regularly as determined by the Chairperson from time to time, but in any event at least once every 3 (Three) months.
- 5.11 The Committee shall cause proper books of account of the administration and finances of the Association to be kept and a competent person shall draw financial accounts annually.
- 5.12 The Secretary shall keep proper minutes of all meetings of the Committee.
- 5.13 In the event of a deadlock the Chairperson shall have a casting vote.

6. MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION

The annual general meeting of the Association shall be held on a date as determined by the Committee during each successive year, provided that such meeting shall not be held later than 15 (Fifteen) months after the previous annual general meeting. The Secretary shall post or deliver to each Member written notice of the annual general meeting, accompanied by the agenda, at least 3 (Three) weeks before the date of the meeting.

- 6.2 Special general meetings may be called upon 3 (Three) weeks' written notice by the Secretary whenever the Committee considers it desirable and shall in any event be called upon the request in writing of at least 50 (Fifty) Members. The Secretary shall include the agenda with the notice of the special meeting.
- 6.3 The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings arid in his/her absence the Secretary shall preside. In the absence of both of them the Members present shall elect an acting chairperson for that meeting.
- At all meetings votes on any matter shall be cast by a show of hands unless the chairperson of that meeting requires a poll.
- 6.5 In the event of a deadlock the chairperson of that meeting shall have a casting vote.
- The quorum at all general meetings shall be Members holding in aggregate at least 50 (Fifty) erven.
- 6.7 The Secretary shall keep minutes of the proceedings of the Association.

7. POWERS OF THE ASSOCIATION

- 7.1 The management and administration of the Association shall vest in the Committee who may exercise all such powers of the Association and do or refrain from doing, on behalf of the Association, whatever may be exercised and done by the Association itself.
- 7.2 Without in any way limiting the generality of the aforegoing, the Committee shall be entitled to:
- 7.2.1 perform all such acts as are necessary to accomplish the objectives expressed or implied herein;
- 7.2.2 determine what constitutes appropriate standards, designs and styles as set out in clauses 3.1.1 to 3.1.3 and for the maintenance of properties in the Development;
- 7.2.3 invest and re-invest monies of the Association not immediately required, in such manner as the Committee may from time to time determine. In particular a separate long term road stabilisation fund for future maintenance of the road and other common services shall be maintained:
- 7.2.4 operate a bank account in the name of the Association;

- enter into and fulfil contracts or agreements for any purpose of the Association; 7.2.5
- 7.2.6 employ and pay employees, contractors, agents, servants and any other parties such as auditors, attorneys, architects, engineers and other professional consultants;
- 7.2.7 form sub-committees and to delegate such powers to the sub-committees as may be deemed necessary;
- 7.2.8 sue and to defend actions in the name of the Association and to appoint legal representatives for this purpose;
- 7.2.9 collect or instruct agents to collect levies payable by Members as provided in clause 3.1.6hereof.
- 7.2.10 grant or withhold (pending payment of any levies in arrears or fulfilment of his/her obligations by the Member concerned) its consent to the alienation of any erf in the Development, provided that such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Provided always that the Association shall be subservient to the constitution of the Pinehurst Property Owners Association and that the Committee shall have no authority to do or cause to be done anything that may be in conflict with such constitution or the directives of the Pinehurst Property Owners Association.

8. CONDUCT RULES

- Subject to any restrictions imposed or directions given at a general meeting, the Committee may from time to time make, amend and repeal rules which shall apply in the Development and which shall be binding upon Members as if it forms part of this Constitution. Without limiting the generality thereof, such rules may have regard to:
- 8.1.1 the right to determine and control all security measures in the Development, including the right to determine access to and egress from the Development and to or from the erven or any other area in the Development;
- 8.1.2 the furtherance and promotion of the objectives of the Association, the management thereof and for the advancement of the interests of its Members.
- 8.1.3 building, environmental and aesthetic requirements. In this regard the Committee shall have the power (subject to the Association's standard requirements) to:

- 8.1.3.1 frame and enforce specifications in order to harmonise the architectural style and design criteria of, and the materials to be used in all buildings erected or to be erected in the Development;
- 8.1.3.2 examine and approve or refuse building plans, whether such be for new constructions, renovations, alterations or additions;
- 8.1.3.3 regulate the preservation of the environment, including the right to control and to require the cultivation of trees and other vegetation;
- 8.1.3.4 compel Members to comply with its building and aesthetic requirements, and failing compliance therewith, to take steps to remedy 'such non-compliance at the cost of such member. Without in any way limiting the generality of the aforegoing, the Committee may in writing call upon a Member to remove or alter within a specified period anything erected contrary to the requirements laid down pursuant thereto and failing compliance, to apply to Court for an appropriate order.
- 8.1.3.5 require Members to submit all building plans for new constructions, renovations, alterations or additions to the Committee for examination and comment by an architect appointed by the Association (prior to the submission of such plans to the Association and to the Local Authority for approval). The Committee shall communicate its decision to the applicant within 2 (Two) weeks of such plans being submitted to it.
- 8.2 Members shall be obliged to communicate any requests or complaints regarding the Development to Garden Cities and/or the Local Authority Municipality via the Committee only.
- 8.3 For the enforcement of any of its rules the Association may:
- 8.3.1 take or cause to be taken such steps as it may consider necessary to remedy the breach of any rule and to debit the cost thereof to the Member concerned as a debt payable to the Association;

and/or

8.3.2 impose fines or other penalties as approved and reviewed by the annual general meeting;

and/or

- 8.3.3 take any other lawful action, including court proceedings, as may be appropriate in the circumstances.
- 8.4 Any breach of the rules by a Member, his/her staff, dependents, guests or tenants shall be deemed to have been committed by the Member himself/herself who shall

be liable for such breach and the consequences thereof. Without prejudice to the aforegoing, the Association may in its entire discretion take steps against the Member concerned and/or against the party actually committing the breach.

8.5 The Association shall be entitled to recover all costs incurred in any legal proceedings from the Member concerned (or guest or tenant of such Member) on the scale as between attorney and client, including tracing fees and collection commission.

9. NO ALIENATION OF COMMON AREAS

Neither the whole nor any portion of any erf forming part of the Common Area shall be:

9.1 sold, let, alienated, subdivided, transferred or otherwise disposed of;

or

9.2 mortgaged;

or

9.3 subjected to any rights (whether registered in any deeds registry or not) of use, occupation or servitude (other than the general servitudes in favour of the City of Cape Town or any other competent authority, and those enjoyed by the Members in terms hereof);

without a prior special resolution of the Association and the prior written consent of the City of Cape Town.

10. STATUS OF THE ASSOCIATION

The Association shall be an association as envisaged in Section 29 of the Land Use Planning Ordinance 15/1985:

10.1 with legal personality, capable of suing and being sued in its own name;

and

10.2 none of whose Members in their personal capacities shall- have any right, title or interest to or in the property, funds or assets of the Association, which shall vest in and be controlled by the Committee in terms hereof;

and

10.3 not for profit or gain, but for the benefit of the owners and occupants of immovable property situate in the Development

and

that comes into effect on or before the date of registration of the first erf in the Development to be transferred.

11. AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION

The Constitution of the Association may at any time be amended at a general or special meeting of the Members, provided that at least 75% (Seventy Five percent) of all Members vote in favour thereof, whether in person or by written proxy. Provided further that no alteration or amendment to the Constitution shall be made without the prior written consent of the City of Cape Town or its successor in title.

12. WINDING UP

- 12.1 The Association may be wound up by a resolution of the Members in general meeting provided that:
- 12.1.1 75% (Seventy-Five *per centum*) of all Members, duly conveyed, vote in favour thereof;

and

- the City of Cape Town or its successor in title consents thereto in writing.
- In the event of such winding up, it shall be the duty of the Committee, or a trustee appointed by it, to convert the assets of the Association into cash, pay all the liabilities of the Association and thereafter distribute the net residue (if any) to all the Members in proportion to the number of erven registered in the name of each Member.

RULES

"Criminals rely on you to break security protocol and regulations, which makes security control more difficult and also makes it easier for criminals to do the same".

- The entrance area shall have access monitoring 24 hours a day. All residents, visitors and contractors are required to adhere to the access monitoring procedures. Details of the access monitoring procedures can be obtained from the Committee.
- The access procedures may inconvenience residents and members of the public.
 Members are requested to co-operate and not to undermine the access monitoring system. Remember that the access monitoring is in the interest of Members.
- Any access system for permanent or temporary employees and contractors and their employees as prescribed by the Committee from time to time shall be strictly applied by every resident.
- 4. Members/residents shall ensure that employees and contractors with whom they contract at all times adhere in all respects to the security stipulations for contractors as laid down by the Committee.
- 5. When applying for permits, all employees, contractors and visitors to the Development area are required to sign acceptance of the security rules of the Development area. The Member remains responsible for the conduct of tenants and of visitors to his/her property. Should a tenant/visitor/employee be in contravention of the Rules of the Development area, the Committee reserves the right to refuse access to such person.
- 6. Any attempt at burglary or instance of fence jumping must promptly be reported to a member of the Committee.
- 7. Members who link burglar alarms to a monitoring system must instruct the monitoring service to contact such owner/resident in the first instance in the event of an alarm.

RULES (Continued)

- 8. **SECURITY IS AN ATTITUDE.** Be aware that every Owner/resident must enforce and apply security to make it work. Do not hesitate to question anyone not displaying a formal permit.
- 9. The prior consent in writing shall be required from the Association for the following alterations, additions, demolitions, decorations or reconstructions:
 - (a) The erection of Wendy houses, gazebos or lapas, whether prefabricated or built in situ;
 - (b) The conversion of single storey buildings to double or multi-storey;
 - (c) The erection of flat roof structures, carports and shades, or pergolas;
 - (d) The erection of Granny flats, garden walls and fences, or any structure housing animals or birds:
 - (e) Any deviation from the external colour scheme and materials used on the Property, including when effecting any repairs or maintenance;
 - (f) Any change in the design, architectural treatment, materials and finishes used in any alteration, addition, decoration, or reconstruction;
 - (g) Any burglar bars, security gates electrical and other security fencing or security equipment or installation, including the style, pattern and colour thereof. Provided that the required consent shall not be unreasonably withheld where the proposed installation conforms to the guidelines issued by the Home Owners Association.
- 10. The Committee reserves the right to specify the size, placing and duration of any "For Sale" or "To Let" boards or signs displayed within the Development. The Committee shall furthermore be entitled in its entire discretion to restrict or limit the entry to and/or activities in, or even exclude particular estate agent(s) from, the Development. It is not the intention of the Association to prescribe to its Members which estate agents to appoint when selling or letting their property, but for the sake of harmony and peace within the Development, the Committee shall be entitled in its entire discretion to permit or exclude any agent who may be entitled to market properties within the Development. Members are encouraged to discuss their intended choice of agents with the Committee at an early stage in order to avoid possible prejudice or embarrassment.
- 11. No tree on any erf may be chopped down, killed, or materially diminished in any way by or on behalf of any Member without the prior written consent of the Committee.

ANNEXURE "DA"

PLAN OF DEVELOPMENT

CONDUCT RULES

- 1. No member may keep or allow on his/ her erf any animal which may lead to security, safety, or disturbance-related incidents.
- 2. No Member may play loud music, continue with any boisterous function, or make any noise between 24h00 on Saturdays or 22h00 on any other day and 08h00 on the following day.
- 3. All vehicles shall observe a speed limit of 30 km/hour.
- 4. Motorcycles and cars entering the Development area shall have proper silencers. No high revving of any vehicle shall be permitted.
- Each Member shall ensure that water from irrigation or from other use in and about his/her erf does not spill into adjacent erven and does not cause any nuisance or disturbance to neighbours.
- 6. Members shall promptly remove or cause to be removed all garden refuse. The Member concerned at the request of the Committee shall remove any branches or plants overhanging onto or over any adjacent erf.
- 7. No Member shall without the prior approval in writing of the Committee plant or allow any weeds, invading plants, poisonous plants or trees or shrubs which in the sole discretion of the Committee may cause nuisance or other problems. (The Committee is unlikely to permit nuisance trees such as port Jackson, silky oak, rubber trees, weeping willows and other trees or shrubs known to cause problems with drainage, foundations, or water pipes, or that shed excessive quantities of leaves or seeds).
- 8. Each Member shall forthwith inform the Committee of the sale of his/her property in the Development and stipulate the anticipated date of registration of transfer as well as the identity of the purchaser.

CONDUCT RULES ·

- 9. No Member shall allow the exterior of the buildings on the property registered in his/her name to deteriorate or become dirty or untidy and shall be obliged to maintain same in good order and condition.
- 10. No change to the external colour scheme shall be permitted without the prior written permission of the Committee.
- 11. No alteration or addition to any structure on the property registered in the Member's name shall be permitted unless the Committee has approved plans for such alteration or addition in writing, prior to the commencement thereof.
- 12. Each Member acknowledges that the property purchased by him/her forms part of a group of houses designed to form an aesthetic entity and this shall be the primary consideration of the Committee in deciding whether or not to grant any permission sought in terms hereof. Any decision by the Committee in this regard shall be final.
- All private garden areas shall be kept in a neat and tidy state by the Member who owns such garden area.
- 14. No vehicles may be habitually parked in any part of the common area/s, public open spaces, or any individual erven except in such places as are specifically approved and designated for that purpose and then only in such a way the flow of traffic to and from erven and garages is not obstructed.
 - No commercial vehicle, truck, caravan, trailer, boat, jet ski or quad bike may be parked or drive in/on the common area/s, public open spaces, driveways, or any individual erven at any time.
 - No vehicle may be parked on or in the vicinity of any entrance to an erf so that it protrudes over or onto the road reserve or adjacent erven.
 - Any vehicle parked or abandoned in the common area or public open space for a period exceeding two days may be removed or towed away at the risk and expense of the owner - unless prior written permission has been obtained from the Estate Manager.
 - Residents need to ensure that caravans, trailers, boats, jet skis and quad bikes remain parked in designated/concealed areas on their erven. A preparation period of 2 days before and after use of such vehicles would be deemed reasonable. Should additional time be required, kindly obtain written permission from the Estate Manager

- 15. No Member shall do, or cause to be done, on his/her property anything that is a source of injury or disturbance to any neighbour or other resident in the Development.
- 16. No Member shall conduct any profession, business, or home industry from his/her erf without the prior approval in writing of the Committee. (The Committee is unlikely to permit any trade or business involving visits by a significant number of clients or customers, the regular delivery of goods to or from the Development, requiring extensive changes to the structure or layout of the building on the erf concerned, or which involves any organic or chemical substance or any other aspect which may cause disturbance or intrude upon the privacy of Members).

CONDUCT RULES

The following Conduct Rules were approved and added as clause 17 of the current Conduct Rules.

"Subject to any restrictions imposed or directions given at a general meeting, the Committee may from time to time make, amend and repeal rules which shall apply in the Development, and which shall be binding upon Members as if it forms part of this Constitution".

The Fine System will be implemented as follows:

- The offender will be alerted in writing of the infringement and afforded the
 opportunity to rectify/correct or mitigate his/her circumstances to the
 Committee in writing within five working days of the delivery of the notice.
 The Committee's decision taken on the request will be corresponded in writing
 and will be deemed as final.
- If this alert is ignored, a penalty of R500 will be charged by means of a second formal notification of the said infringement. The opportunity to rectify/correct the matter is within the discretion of the Committee.
- If the second formal notification is ignored, an additional penalty of R750 will be charged by means of a third formal notification of the said infringement. The opportunity to rectify/correct the matter is within the discretion of the Committee.
- If the third formal notification is ignored, an additional penalty of R1000 will be charged by means of a fourth formal notification of the said infringement. The opportunity to rectify/correct the matter is within the discretion of the Committee.
- Thereafter a R1000 will be charged by means of each formal notification of the said infringement that is delivered to the offender. The opportunity to rectify/correct the matter is within the discretion of the Committee.

The penalties will be invoiced to the owners' levy account.

Mitigating or extenuating circumstances will be dealt with at the discretion of the Committee.

The above level of fines were adopted at the Annual General Meeting held on 17 January 2017 and shall remain in force and effect until amended and substituted at any future Annual General Meeting of the Association.